

ANALYSIS + AUDIT OF ORGANIZATIONS 2021

The Path Forward:

A BLUEPRINT FOR B.C.'S TREE FRUIT INDUSTRY

Table of Contents

Introduction	
Government of Canada	2
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada	2
Province of British Columbia	2
Representative Industry Organizations	3
BC Agriculture Council	
Other Organizations Vital to the Tree Fruit Sector	9
OK Sterile Insect Release Program	10 1
Packing Houses	13
BC Tree Fruits Cooperative	14 14 14
Observations and Assessments Regarding Organizations Involved in B.C.'s Tree Fruit Industry	15

Introduction

The Tree Fruit Industry Stabilization Plan is intended to:

- Understand and substantiate the difficult economic circumstances of BC's tree fruit industry (especially the apple sector) and the factors that have led to those circumstances.
- Assess the roles and responsibilities of the various organizations and the opportunities for renewed leadership within the industry.
- Engage industry stakeholders in a process to understand the circumstances and evaluate future potential opportunities.
- Realistically assess the future economic viability of the industry.
- Prepare a plan and accompanying implementation approach to stabilize the industry.

The project will have three key phases, including:

- Phase 1 Development of Industry Engagement Strategy: project planning, assessment of current activities, context gathering.
- Phase 2 Implementation of Industry Engagement Strategy: Industry engagement, consideration of options, etc.
- Phase 3 Development of Tree Fruit Industry Stabilization Plan for BC: recommendations and decision-making.

Phase 1 includes an analysis and audit of organizations in the tree fruit sector to assess:

- Formal and informal responsibilities.
- Any authority for those responsibilities.
- Any concerns and/or overlap of responsibilities.
- The overall leadership structure in the industry.

Agencies and organizations that play a key role in the sector include:

- Governments and their representative department/ministry (Canada and British Columbia).
- Representative associations and organizations.
- Organizations that play a particular role in supporting the industry.
- Packing houses that process the fruit for sale or further processing.

Government Agencies

In Canada, agriculture is a responsibility shared between the federal, provincial, and territorial governments.

Government of Canada

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada

Agriculture and Agri-food Canada (AAFC) is the department of the Government of Canada with responsibility for policies governing agriculture production, farming income, research and development, inspection, and the regulation of plants and animals.

AAFC's activities range from the farmer to the consumer, from the farm to global markets, through all phases of producing, processing, and marketing of farm, food, and bio-based products. The department works closely with provincial and territorial governments in the development and delivery of policies and programs. The department also collaborates with partners involved in regulating and supporting Canadian agriculture.

AAFC's key initiatives include:

- The Canadian Agricultural Partnership is a five-year, \$3-billion investment by federal, provincial, and territorial governments to strengthen the agriculture, agri-food, and agri-based products sector, launched in April 2018. B.C.'s tree fruit sector can access many CAP programs through AAFC, the BC Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, or the BC Investment Agriculture Foundation (IAF).
- A Food Policy for Canada, which is intended to help Canada build a healthier and more sustainable food system. The Food Policy will include a long-term vision for our health, environmental, social, and economic goals related to food and short-term actions to help address issues and pursue opportunities in the production, processing, distribution, and consumption of food.

AAFC's Summerland Research and Development Centre was established in 1914 in the Okanagan Valley, located in Canada's most water challenged but biologically diverse eco-region. Research at the Centre is focused on building resilient and profitable horticultural production systems. Researchers at the Centre focus on sustainable crop production practices to help preserve and enhance the resilience of such sensitive environments. More detailed information on the Centre is located later in this document.

Province of British Columbia

In British Columbia, the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries (the Ministry) is responsible for:

- Production, marketing, processing, and merchandising of agricultural and aquaculture products,
- Food security, and
- Supporting enhancement of wild fish populations.

The Ministry provides important programs relevant to the tree fruit industry. These programs may be administered through other organizations and includes programs specific to:

- Business, innovation, and market development (e.g.: business planning, market development, land matching, the replanting of fruit, Buy BC partnerships, etc.),
- Insurance and income assistance protection (e.g.: income protection, crop loss and wildlife damage, price, and production insurance, etc.),
- Food safety and traceability (e.g.: on-farm and post-farm food safety, traceability cross he value chain, etc.), and
- Environmental sustainability (e.g.: environmental farm planning, climate action, etc.).

The Ministry has programs specifically targeted at supporting the province's tree fruit sector, including:

- The Tree Fruit Competitiveness Program which supports enhanced competitiveness initiatives through infrastructure, innovation, marketing, and research, and
- The Tree Fruit Replant Program, which provides financial help for growers to replace fruit trees with varieties that will meet consumer demands for high-value, high-quality B.C. fruit.

It appears the introduction and continuation of these programs by the Ministry may have resulted because of advocacy and lobbying, rather than based on evidence and substantiated by demonstrated impacts.

The Ministry has a dedicated tree fruit specialist providing direct support and service to the sector on a fulltime basis and employees in other positions that provide direct or indirect support service to the sector on a part-time, as needed basis.

The Ministry used to have to have more extensive extension services than it does today. The Ministry has not been able to sustain extension services. This is a challenge that has also impacted other organizations in the agriculture industry, including in the tree fruit sector.

The Ministry possesses some powerful tools (e.g.: legislation and regulations, program capacity, funding, etc.) that could be used as a policy or financial lever to support the sector if appropriate. This includes, for example, the *Agricultural Land Commission Act* (ALCA). The ALCA is a powerful piece of legislation in BC and perhaps the strongest agricultural land protection legislation in North America.

Representative Industry Organizations

BC Agriculture Council

BC Agriculture Council (BCAC) is a non-profit, non-governmental council of member associations representing 28 farm associations that generate 96% of B.C. provincial farm gate sales. Members from the tree fruit sector include the BC Fruit Growers' Association (BCFGA) and the BC Cherry Association (BCCA).

BCAC is governed by a Board of Directors which represent various components of the agriculture industry (e.g.: horticulture).

BCAC represents most sectors of BC's agriculture industry, including floriculture, horticulture, greenhouse vegetables, poultry, cattle, dairy, grain, organics, aquaculture, etc.

BCAC has the following committees, most having direct or indirect impact on, or implications for, the tree fruit sector:

- BC Young Farmers: provides networking and professional development opportunities,
- Water Working Group: ad hoc committee providing agricultural representation during the Water Act modernization process (jointly with the Ministry),
- Labour: overseeing policies and issues related to human resources and skills development,
- Climate Action Advisory: enabling a pan-agriculture approach to identifying and analyzing the impacts of climate change and climate action public policy on the agriculture and food processing sectors (jointly with the BC Investment Agriculture Foundation),

- Provincial Risk Management Advisory: which advises and provides direction to the Ministry on the safety net program policy and recommends representation on certain national programs and advisory committees (jointly with the Ministry), and
- Finance, responsible for BCAC's finance, internal audit, and compliance processes.

BCAC's mandate includes:

- Advocacy to help farmers and ranchers on key issues for agriculture in BC.
- Proactive communication by distributing relevant information to increase industry awareness.

BCAC operates:

- ARDCorp (the BC Agricultural Research & Development Corporation), a wholly owned subsidiary of BCAC which delivers farmer focused program. ARDCorp manages:
 - The Environmental Farm Plan program which helps farmers reduce agriculture's impact on the environment and help improve their efficiency and profitability and attract new customers.
 - The Climate & Agriculture Initiative BC, which helps the agriculture sector adapt to climate change through collaboration, programs, tools, resources, and information sharing.
- The Western Agriculture Labor Initiative (WALI), a subsidiary of BCAC that works with employers and governments to enable employers to find adequate domestic workers and continually improve working conditions for temporary workers.

BCAC's priorities include:

- Water security to ensure a safe, reliable water source for BC's food system.
- Environmental sustainability, through ARDCorp's administration of the Environmental Farm Program and Climate Action Initiative).
- Labour.
- Community engagement.
- On-farm safety.

BCAC has no direct or indirect programs or responsibilities that are specific to BC's tree fruit sector, other than the work of its committees noted above.

BC Fruit Growers' Association

According to their website, the BC Fruit Growers' Association (BCFGA) is an industry association representing BC fruit growers' interests through activities which include lobbying governments for positive change to risk management programs, such as crop insurance and the Net Income Stabilization Program and providing services and products to growers.

The BCFGA is governed by a Board of Directors elected by all members for multi-year terms. Members elect the President. Vice President and Board members.

The organization's listed member services include:

- Financial assistance during the COVID-19 pandemic (an information sharing function in Co-operation with the Central Okanagan Economic Development Corporation).
- Farm jobs (a combination of information about the nature of, and opportunities for, seasonal work on orchards in the Okanagan-Similkameen Valley and the BCFGA Farm Labour Project which provides

orientation and farm safety sessions for new workers and coordinates jobs postings between farm labour agencies).

- Administration of the Province's Tree Fruit Replant Program.
- In partnership with the BC Investment Agriculture Foundation (IAF), administration of the Province's Tree Fruit Competitiveness Fund.
- The provision of contact information for local wood chipping programs and contractors.
- The Pesticide Application Recertification Program, which allows pesticide applicators to attend industry courses, workshops, and events to obtain credits to renew their certification, rather than writing an exam.
- Three BCFGA bursaries of up to \$1,000 to a close relative of a BCFGA members who meets eligibility criteria related to attendance at a recognized post-secondary institution.
- Links to information about preventative measures for the coronavirus for employers and employees.
- Spray schedule recording forms.
- In cooperation with the Ministry and the BC Investment Agriculture Foundation, the BC Tree Fruit Production Guide (a separate website with information and links relevant to growers).

The Summerland Varieties Corp., a subsidiary of the BCFGA, identifies and commercializes promising new tree fruit varieties developed through AAFC's plant breeding program.

The committees listed on the BCFGA's website include Honorarium, Resolutions, Labour, Water and Environment, Member Services, Horticulture Forum, Crop Protection and Research, and Financial Programs. The site contains no links or details about these committees or their roles, other than the Membership Services Committee report to the 2021 AGM.

The BCFGA is funded through voluntary membership dues, dividends from Summerland Varieties Corporation, and contract administration fees (Replant, etc.). BCFGA members are automatically members of the BC Agriculture Council and the Canadian Horticulture Council (CHC).

Note: the CHC is a voluntary, not-for-profit, national association based in Ottawa that represents fruit and vegetable growers across Canada in the production of over 120 different types of crops with farm cash receipts of \$5.4 Billion annually. The CHC advocates for industry on issues such as promoting healthy, safe, and sustainable food to ensure the continued success and growth of the industry. Areas of advocacy include labour, business risk management, trade, etc. CHC member organizations represent Canada's ten province, national organizations (e.g.: Farm Credit Canada), and international groups (e.g.: Ag World Support Systems). At present, there are 14 member organizations from British Columbia, including the BCFGA and WALI.

The BCFGA's membership structure includes:

- Direct membership, for individual growers with a farm capable of producing \$15,000 worth of tree fruits in any one year. Benefits include reduced costs or free access to certain services (e.g.: magazine subscription, newsletter, etc.) and the ability to vote at the AGM.
- Associate membership, for individual growers with farms not capable of producing \$15,000 worth of tree fruits in any one year. Benefits are the same as for a direct membership but without the ability to vote at the AGM.
- Business associate membership, for businesses affiliated with the sector. Benefits include membership mail-out service, recognition of the business, etc.

According to the BCFGA 22 (6.3%) of the BCFGA's 350 members are not also part of the BC Tree Fruits Cooperative (the Co-op). Membership in the BCFGA is a condition of membership in the Co-op.

There are about 850 apple and cherry producers in BC. The 22 growers in the BCFGA who are not in the Co-op represent 0.26% of all growers, while the 350 total members represent about 41% of all growers.

This level of voluntary members suggests the BCFGA is not providing effective lobbying, services, or support for growers to commit to the cost of membership.

The BCFGA's communication channels, such as their website, reflect a disconnect between the industry's circumstances and what growers need – and what the BCFGA provides its members. The website is not effective, with many broken links and incorrect dates. This is a challenge for an organization that must communicate effectively to maintain and attract members and execute effectively on their stated mandate.

BC Cherry Association

The BC Cherry Association (BCCA) indicates the BCCA represents growers, marketers, packers, researchers and industry members involved in B.C.'s cherry industry. The BCCA sponsors research to grow and deliver top quality cherries to markets around the world. They also work to promote and strengthen marketing opportunities.

The BCCA is governed by an elected Board of Directors and elected President.

In 2013, changes were made to enable growers, packers, brokers, scientists, suppliers, and service providers to work better together on behalf of the BC cherry industry. This reflected an effort to respond to changing circumstances.

The BCCA is active in lobbying government about labour and housing issues and market access.

The organization's listed services and activities include:

- Research projects that help advance the cherry industry. Successful projects on pest control, post-harvest handling, breeding, and disease suppression are examples of work done in past.
- Marketing efforts by working with the Canadian Food Inspection Agency and the Ministry to administer export programs and act as the industry body when negotiating market access for new cherry export deals. Cherries are shipped to Asian (e.g.: China) and European markets.
- Grower resources by providing linkages to a variety of weather, horticulture, labour, and organization resources.

The BCCA is funded through voluntary membership dues. BCCA members are automatically members of the BC Agriculture Council. BCCA's membership structure includes:

- Voting and non-voting (small growers only) memberships for growers, for whom benefits include new research and technology, BCCA promotion and market development, industry events, education, online listings for employees, sales directory, industry forum, and classified ads.
- Trade (voting) memberships for brokers, marketers, which include information and consultation in market development issues, strengthened policy and regulatory input, promotion in trade missions and exhibitions, online platform, consolidated list of producers/packers, and group purchasing opportunities as benefits.
- Non-voting memberships for sponsors (industry service and suppliers). Benefits for sponsor members include logo and promotion on website, potential customers, access to industry events, seminar opportunities, and recognition for the sponsors' significant contribution to research and market development for the BC cherry industry.

- Associate memberships for researchers, consultants, and media, for whom benefits include newsletters, access to producers, research, and communications.

This membership structure reflects the BCCA's efforts to allow all parties to work together on behalf of the industry (140 members in 2017).

The BCCA's February 2021 AGM included a series of business items (e.g.: reports on market access and exports), reports on several research initiatives (e.g.: tree fruit breeding processes, the impact of irrigation deficits, etc.), and important business updates from outside agencies (e.g.: AgriStability by BRM verification specialist, temporary foreign workers by the WALI program manager, etc.).

The BCCA's efforts to engage and coordinate the efforts of the cherry sector supply chain, the focused nature of the BCCA's programs, research, and efforts (labour, housing, and market access), and the business-like nature of its public and member-oriented communications demonstrate a proactive and forward-looking approach.

The BCCA has struck two operational committees:

- Research and Development Committee, with terms of reference task to:
 - o Promote the interests of the BC cherry industry by selecting and facilitating research and extension proposals which advance the priorities of the BCCA.
 - Keep abreast of current developments in the BC and broader Pacific Northwest cherry industry and bring this knowledge to bear in committee deliberations and decisions.
- Market Access Committee, with terms of reference to:
 - Prioritize and develop access to new export markets with good potential demand, specifically China,
 Brazil, South Korea, Mexico, Australia, and Japan.
 - Facilitate effective promotion of BC cherries and the BC cherry industry internationally through
 participation in strategic international trade shows, particularly Asia Fruit Logistics in Hong Kong,
 European Fruit Logistics in Berlin, and Produce Marketers Association Fresh Summit in USA.
 - o Promote BC cherries through Canadian branding, promotion of the quality of Canadian cherries and quality assurance certification standards followed in their production.
 - Maintain access to valuable existing markets, specifically monitoring and responding to country changes in requirements, such as Thailand, India.
 - Identify and work to alleviate trade barriers and issues that impede competitiveness of Canadian cherries in export trade, monitoring and presenting industry positions on tariffs and trade agreements.
 - Identify common issues that can be collectively addressed by the BC Cherry Association / OKCGA through its research, education, and industry development, such as post-harvest research on fumigation developments or alternatives, packaging technology, logistical issues of air freight capacity and airport services, etc.
 - Update producers, packers, and brokers on trade and marketing issues, such as changes in Maximum Residue Levels set by countries.

The cherry sector has benefited from new export markets including China, Japan, and California. It is currently working on gaining access to South Korea.

New Tree Fruit Varieties Development Council

The New Tree Fruits Varieties Development Council (NTFVDC or Ambrosia Council) supports and generally promote the Ambrosia apple variety by conducting research, promoting the variety, and encouraging quality production.

The NTFVDC was formed via a regulation under BC's Farming and Fisheries Industry Development Act.

Individuals, Co-operatives, partnerships, or corporations that grow ambrosia apples are automatically members of the Council. The NTFVDC is governed by a Board of Directors elected by the membership at the AGM in rotating two-year terms. The Board is comprised of six to nine voting members including five grower representatives, one member or representative from the variety owners, at least one grower from the organic industry, and one or two members at large. The Board also includes a non-voting representative from the Ministry.

The NTFVDC is funded through mandatory industry levies on BC ambrosia apple sales and project funding from government. The levy is in place until June 30, 2021 and was previously renewed for three five-year terms. The levy that BC growers pay is used to fund:

- Research projects on production and storage,
- Marketing research,
- Market promotions.

The NTFVDC manages the Light Reflecting Materials Program, funded by B.C.'s Tree Fruit Competitiveness Fund. The program offers a partial grant (50% of material costs) towards the purchase of light reflecting fabrics by tree fruit producers with a focus on apples. Research and practical demonstrations show that light reflecting materials improve coloring and enhance product quality when apples are harvested at the proper ripeness.

As the levy is due to expire on June 30, 2021, the NTFVDC has been investigating how support for research and marketing for B.C. apples (especially Ambrosia apples) should continue. Based on research and analysis it commissioned, the NTFVDC is recommending the establishment of a B.C. Apple Marketing Commission. The NTFVDC asserts the Commission would help packers with new export markets, pursue short-term market improvements, and longer-term market development.

The NTFVDC is pursuing a move from the status quo (declining returns and growing costs for growers) to a circumstance where growers earn profitable returns through efforts to make the Ambrosia apple a world class variety and the preferred crop for investment because of superior returns.

The NTFVDC has a comprehensive implementation plan for establishment of the proposed Commission which has been available, but not been actioned, since June 2020. As part of the Stabilization Project, the Ministry has engaged with the NTFVDC to assess the nature and appropriateness of establishing a commission. The Ministry would have to take an active and supportive role for a commission or some similar agency to be established.

While the NTFVDC has not yet successfully implemented a commission or any form of successor program to ensure continued support for the development and marketing of Ambrosia (and potentially other varieties) of B.C. apples, its efforts to understand the options and pursue support for a successor agency are positive, informed, and forward-looking.

The NTFVDC has struck two working committees:

- Marketing Commission Committee, with a mandate to guide the research and development of a potential Marketing Commission.
- Market Access Committee, with a mandate to provide specific targets and goals for expanding the access of Canadian apple producers to export markets.

Other Organizations Vital to the Tree Fruit Sector

OK Sterile Insect Release Program

The Okanagan-Kootenay Sterile Insect Release Program (OKSIR or SIR) is an environmentally responsible, areawide approach to control codling moth pest populations in the fruit-growing regions of the Okanagan, Similkameen, and Shuswap Valleys.

The SIR is governed by a Board of Directors that include eight voting members (five appointed by participating regional districts and three grower representatives) and two non-voting members (representing AAFC and the Ministry).

The tree fruit industry in these areas plays an important role in the lives of residents and commercial growers and these codling moth populations are one of the B.C. industry's most damaging and costly pests if left uncontrolled.

The program is sustainable, transparent, and informed by the best available data and technical expertise. It mitigates the threat of codling moth to the local fruit industry and helps create a healthier environment for local communities and the planet.

The program raises and releases sterile moths into commercial orchards to disrupt codling moth mating. SIR produces sterile codling moths and releases them at regular intervals to breed with wild moths. A mating pair cannot produce viable offspring which helps reduce the wild codling moth populations.

The SIR's services include:

- Monitoring of codling moths and the sterilization and release of sterile moths.
- Visits and information sharing with urban residents.
- Public awareness and education at local outreach events.
- Enforcement to ensure orchard growers and urban owners of host trees that are responsible for keeping their property free of codling moth infestations comply with those obligations and remove infested materials or neglected host trees, as necessary.
- Assisted in the implementation and dissemination of information on the recent pest Apple Clearwing Moth survey project, which has become a devastating pest to apple orchards.
- Adaption of the Washington State University Decision Aid System to B.C. for all B.C. orchardists for apples, cherries, peaches, and apricots.

The program indicates it has:

- Significantly reduced the amount of pesticide required to manage codling moths (SIR indict es a 96% reduction since 1991).

- Improved the relationship between orchard growers and residents, positively impacted tourism in the region.
- Assisted the industry in expanding into markets that favor growers from areas of "low pest prevalence" and low reliance on chemical pesticides.
- Contributes to the reputation of the Southern Interior as a centre of excellence in horticultural research and innovation. This includes the attendance of international scientists at SIR training to learn the principles and procedures of an area-wide pest management program using sterile insect technology and the application of the program is now being applied in several countries.
- Served as a major seasonal employer for the region.

Funding for the program comes from:

- Local property taxpayers (60%) through the Okanagan-Similkameen, Central, and North Okanagan Regional Districts.
- Commercial fruit growers (40%) through a per-acre fee (apples) attached to property taxes.
- The recent sale of sterile moths to Washington State and New Zealand.

SIR is funded exclusively by entities that rely on their services and/or expertise to improve their living and business circumstances. It has demonstrated its value to the region but is also at risk if B.C.'s tree fruit industry (especially apples) continues to decline in size and value.

Summerland Varieties Corp

The Summerland Varieties Corp. (SVC) identifies and commercializes promising new tree fruit varieties developed through AAFC's plant breeding program at the Summerland Research and Development Centre. SVC's listed varieties include apples, cherries, and cider apples.

Commercialization is a long-term process, taking up to 35 years for a varietal to be developed, tested, and earn royalties.

SVC is a wholly owned subsidiary of the BC Fruit Growers' Association. SVC is governed by a Board of Directors appointed by the BCFGA Board. SVC Board members must be audited and in good standing in terms of royalty payments at the time of the audit. Board members can be appointed for two three-year terms but a member's appointment as President re-starts a member's two term tenure.

SVC's mandate is to:

- Ensure Canadian growers, packers and marketers have a continual supply of improved fruit varieties (e.g.: collect and remit levies, growing, packing and storage trials, etc.).
- Provide Canadian growers, packers & marketers with a competitive advantage in global markets (e.g.: restrict competition by managing markets, fund research, etc.).

SVC operates the Oliver Test Orchard and Budwood Orchard. The Corporation supplies authorized growers and nursery partners with certified virus-free propagating material from the budwood, scion wood, and seed orchard.

SVC is funded by cherry and apple royalty payments on protected plant materials. The budwood program is funded by budwood cutting charges, scion wood cutting charges, and seed charges. Certain varieties incur a royalty charge that goes to the variety owner in exchange for the right to grow and produce fruit from a protected variety.

SVC requires sufficient and substantial funds to maintain its operations, which include protecting the interests of the B.C. grower community internationally.

SVC represents the Government of Canada and the holders of private rights. SVC pays royalties to the Government of Canada. Further, SVC pays dividends to the BCFGA, at the BCFGA's request, to offset project funding shortfalls (including at least one top-up to the Ministry's Tree Fruit Replant Program).

SVC plays a role in the introduction of new tree fruit varieties that have been developed by AAFC and offer commercial and consumer opportunities. SVC has used money it has raised to contribute to other tree fruit research projects, sponsored growers to attend industry educational events, and at times acted as a source of horticulture extension to B.C. orchardists.

Funded solely by users that rely on their services and/or expertise, SVC has demonstrated its value to the region. This includes:

- The presence of Ambrosia apples in the national and international marketplace and the benefits accruing to Canadian and B.C. growers (e.g.: exclusivity in Canadian markets and access to world markets.
- The strong presence of B.C. sweet cherries in the international marketplace and the corresponding success of B.C. growers.

Western Agriculture Labour Initiative

The Western Agriculture Labour Initiative (WALI) works with employers and governments to enable employers to find adequate domestic workers and continually improve working conditions for temporary workers.

WALI is a subsidiary corporation of BCAC created to lead that work. WALI is governed by the BCAC Board of Directors which includes an Executive Committee.

WALI supports B.C.'s farmers and ranchers by working with governments to develop labour policies that benefit farmers and workers. WALI works with member organizations to find solutions for temporary foreign worker (TFW) program related issues.

WALI is comprised of 16 partner organizations representing producers or growers in most of B.C.'s agriculture industry primary production areas. WALI's Labour Committee is comprised of producers appointed by sector organizations to ensure direct farmer input when discussing concerns, priorities and solutions with government agencies and other stakeholders.

A main objective of WALI is to help producers meet critical Labour needs through temporary foreign workers. TFWs help B.C. producers meet their labour needs during peak agricultural periods when Canadian workers and permanent residents are not available.

There are four programs through which an employer can hire a TFW in Canada. The rules and requirements for Canadian employers wanting to access foreign workers are set by the Government of Canada.

Of the four programs, WALI works primarily with the Seasonal Agriculture Worker Program (SAWP). In this program, TFWs hired must be citizens from Mexico or participating Caribbean countries and production must be in specific commodity sectors, and the activity must be related to on farm primary agriculture.

To a lesser degree, WALI works with the program known as the Agricultural Stream. In this stream, production must be in specific commodity sectors and the activity must be related to on-farm primary agriculture.

An important part of applications for TFWs in either stream is the requirement for a housing inspection form, available only from approved home inspectors. These have an important focus on worker safety.

The WALI website includes links to other Labour opportunities, including the BC Farm, Fish and Food Job Connector (online resource created to share jobs in agriculture, while providing agriculture employers with support for their hiring and planning needs) and the Go2HR website (a tourism and hospitality focused job board to include the agriculture and food processing sector).

WALI is part of an inter-agency working group (representing the Ministries responsible for health, labour, agriculture, and industry) working to ensure healthy living conditions for workers and meeting the requirements of federal programs.

Since the COVID-19 pandemic, the federal and provincial governments have agriculture-specific protocols for employers of temporary foreign workers to address the implications. Those requirements are reflected in WALI's work to ensure temporary foreign workers (TFWs) can enter Canada, enter, and work on BC farms, and return to Mexico.

Since 2017, employers using SAWP have contributed directly to support WALI's work. These funds allow WALI to:

- Process completed Labour Market Impact Assessment applications.
- Increase representation at the national level.
- Facilitate more regional engagement with employers.
- Work with government partners to ensure safe working conditions for all employees.

WALI is an organization supporting BC's agriculture sector (including the tree fruit industry) with practical programs and resources to help growers and producers access temporary foreign Labour during peak agricultural periods. WALI also participates in efforts to improve worker housing and safety.

Summerland Research and Development Centre

AAFC's Summerland Research and Development Centre (SRDC) was established in 1914 in the Okanagan Valley. This is Canada's most water challenged but biologically diverse eco-region.

SRDC is a part of Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Government of Canada.

Research at SRDC focuses on building resilient and profitable horticultural production systems. The relatively mild climate in southern BC allows the production of high-value tender fruit crops (tree fruits, grapes, berries) that cannot be grown in most regions of the country.

SRDC is in an ecologically sensitive location and surrounded by urban development. The setting and limited water supply allow researchers at SRDC to focus on sustainable crop production practices to help preserve and enhance the resilience of such sensitive environments within and across Canada.

There are a large variety of facilities at SRDC, including for example:

- A 320-hectare site (approx. 90 irrigated hectares planted to various tree fruits and wine grapes).
- Orchards, vineyard, and small lot winery.
- Research greenhouses, controlled environment growth chambers, and cold storage rooms.
- Laboratories (e.g.: cold hardiness testing laboratory, food research, standard and level II containment microbiology, etc.).
- Large plant pathogen (fungal and bacterial) collection
- Canadian Plant Virus Collection

Current research activities:

- Improving the capacity to resist climate change and other stresses to the environment (e.g.: models to assess and predict the effect of climate change on water supply and demand, greenhouse gas emissions, soil carbon sequestration, soil biodiversity, pest distribution and ecology, and crop distribution, etc.).
- Improving the sector's ability to respond to diseases, viruses, and other biological threats (e.g.: management strategies that use reduced risk chemicals or non-chemical alternatives to control important pest insects, etc.).
- Supporting opportunities to grow agriculture's contributions to the economy and society (e.g.: new apple and cherry cultivars that meet consumer preference, have market appeal, and are adapted to local growing conditions, etc.).

SRDC indicates its research has:

- Improved the sector's capacity to weather stress from climate, weather, and other physical challenges (e.g.: BC Water Demand Model for regional water supply and demand which will assist in assuring agricultural water supply is maintained in the future, etc.).
- Improved the sector's capacity to weather stress from pests, viruses, and other biological risks (e.g.: a strategy to reduce codling moth, apple clearwing moth, and other pests, while reducing the use of insecticide in commercial apple and pear orchards, etc.).
- Supported opportunities to grow agriculture's contributions to the economy and society (e.g.: new fruit handling processes from harvest through shipping which enabled cost-effective shipment of BC cherries to more international markets, etc.).

Packing Houses

Almost 40 packing houses operate in the Okanagan, Similkameen and Creston Valleys. This includes six major conventional and main organic houses.

BC Tree Fruits Cooperative

The BC Tree Fruits Cooperative (BCTF Co-op) is owned by its approximately 400 members, who are all growers. The Co-op has growers that supply fruit that are not members.

The Co-op is governed by a Board of Directors elected by members for multi-year terms. Currently, the board only includes grower members. However, as of the 2021 AGM, the Board must include two independent, external members elected by members. The President and Vice Presidents are chosen by the Board.

The Co-op operates BC Tree Fruits, Growers Supply Co. Ltd., BC Tree Fruits Cider Company, and a fresh produce market in Kelowna. The Co-op operates 3 packing houses and 6 receiving facilities (Vernon, Kelowna, Summerland, Penticton, Oliver, Osoyoos, Keremeos and Creston).

The Co-op packs and sells apples, cherries, pears, peaches, nectarines, prunes/plums, apricots, and table grapes for both domestic and export sales.

Until recently, the Co-op suffered from several years of governance, management, and business challenges, which contributed to the departure of several growers to private packing houses. The Co-op has taken several steps to improve those circumstances.

Sandher Fruit Packers

Sandher Fruit Packers (SFP) is a private packing house owned by Brothers Dave and Bill Sandher and sons Prabtaj and Gurtaj Sandher.

SFP operates one packing/receiving facility in Kelowna where it packs and sells apples and cherries grown on their own family-owned orchards. SFP has state-of-the-art cleaning, sorting, and packing facilities. This allows the packing house to ensure quality fruit through sophisticated defect detection, etc.

Products serve the local community and are exported as SFP is expanding its export sales.

SFP is a vertically integrated supply process, from their orchards to stores, which they say allows them to maximize fruit quality. SFP has ownership of the entire process and full control over their farms, facilities, and operations.

Consolidated Fruit Packers

Consolidated Fruit Packers (CFP) is a private company owned by the Star Produce Group.

CFP initially handled sales and marketing for independent BC apple and blueberry packers. CFP developed marketing strategies to boost fresh sales, open new markets, and help new packers launch their businesses.

CFP sources fruit through contracted growers that must meet high standards of food quality and safety.

CFP operates one packing/receiving facility in Osoyoos (as well as one in the Fraser Valley), where it packs and sells apples, cherries, peaches, nectarines, apricots, pears, grapes, citrus, and berries.

They focus on year-round supply of fruit and the ability to track and deliver their product anywhere in the world. CFP has both domestic markets and expanding export sales.

Jealous Fruit Company / Coral Beach Farms

Jealous Fruits (JF) is a vertically integrated packing house privately owned by the Geen Family.

JF operates one packing/receiving facility in Lake County, where it packs and sells cherries from the family's own orchards.

JF focuses on premium export sales and some domestic markets. JF produces bulk, retail, and frozen products for sale.

Because JF's orchards are the most northerly large scale cherry producer in North America. They have an elongated harvest season.

The family farm has become an international business with expanded cherry acreage, state-of-the-art sorting and packaging, and an efficient transportation network which lets JF get cherries to domestic and international markets in record time.

Fairview Orchards Ltd.

Fairview Orchards Ltd. (FOL) is a vertically integrated, privately owned by: Machial Family (Brothers Rick and Joe and Sons Dave and Brian).

FOL operates one packing/receiving facility in Oliver, where it packs and sells apples, cherries, peaches, and nectarines.

FOL focuses on premium export sales and domestic markets.

FOL has a limited web presence but has been partners with Thrifty Foods since 1996.

Cawston Cold Storage Ltd.

Cawston Cold Storage Ltd. (CCS) is a certified organic, member-owned organization that stores, packs, repackages, and handles organic fruits under the Nature's First Fruit brand.

CCS is certified under Part 13 of the Safe Food for Canadians Regulations (SFCR).

CCS operates one packing/receiving facility in Keremeos/Cawston, where it packs and sells organic apples, cherries, peaches, nectarines, plums/prunes, apricots, and grapes for domestic and export sales.

As cold storage conditions are required for most of the apple crop harvested each year, a dedicated certified organic facility is essential for certified organic produce.

Observations and Assessments Regarding Organizations Involved in B.C.'s Tree Fruit Industry

Roles and Responsibilities of the Governments of Canada and British Columbia

The federal and provincial governments provide leadership and support to the tree fruit sector through funding programs (e.g.: CAP, tree fruit replant, etc.), programs and services (e.g.: business planning, market development, industry specialists, etc.), and a legal and regulatory framework in which industry operates (e.g.: *Agricultural Land Commission Act*, etc.).

For several years, British Columbia has provided targeted financial support to the tree fruit industry, more than the level of support provided to any other commodities in B.C.'s agriculture sector. Despite this level of additional support, the sector has continued to decline in scale, scope, and profitability. It is not clear what, if any, impacts the Ministry's investments have had in stabilizing the industry, let alone helping to rejuvenate the sector.

The continued investment of public funds needs to be rationalized, informed by evidence, and focused on initiatives that are likely to have a positive impact on stabilizing the industry and creating the circumstances that could provide the best potential for recovery and renewal. While government assists all parts of the provincial economy, it must be realistic in its assessment of this industry's viability and the potential benefits of further investments.

Assessment of the Roles and Responsibilities of Industry Organizations

Four organizations have leadership responsibility in BC's tree fruit sector.

BCAC is a province-wide entity with a mandate that includes most of the commodities in B.C'.s agriculture industry. BCAC represents and advocates on behalf of all commodities on key issues of generally equal importance to all agriculture sectors. Through wholly owned subsidiaries, BCAC provides program (environmental farm plans, climate adaptation, labour) of value to all commodities, including tree fruit growers.

Two associations (BCFGA and BCCA) represent individuals and groups in the industry. The BCFGA is generally representative of all B.C. tree fruit commodities (apples, cherries, etc.), while BCCA represents growers and others in the cherry sector.

The BCFGA could represent all BC tree fruit commodities (apples, cherries, etc.). The BCFGA's membership is mostly comprised of members of the Co-op for whom membership in the BCFGA is automatic and paid for by the Co-op. The small number of growers that have chosen to be members completely independently of any other circumstance or obligation suggests the BCFGA is not successfully representing the sector's interests to sufficiently attract their membership. The organization's mandate and programs do not appear to reflect a strategic direction. The BCFGA is not exerting the leadership necessary to objectively assess the economic viability of the industry and plan accordingly. Its most recent "strategic plan" is inadequate in understanding the challenges facing the sector and identifying realistic strategies to sustain some level of tree fruit production in BC.

BCCA represents growers and others in the cherry sector. Its programs and services have successfully helped advance cherry production and get BC cherries to lucrative export markets (e.g.: China, Japan etc.). The organization has been successful in these efforts. Its structure, programs, and recent AGM are business-like in approach and aimed solely at real challenges (e.g.: market access, Labour, etc.).

The NTFVDC has a specific leadership mandate related to the promoting new tree fruit varieties (especially Ambrosia apples). Faced with the looming end to its primary source of funds, the Council has proposed a new approach to ensuring ongoing research support for and marketing of BC apples (especially ambrosia apples) and is working with the Ministry to assess the viability of that approach.

Assessment of The Roles and Responsibilities of Support Organizations

Four organizations play important support roles to BC's tree fruit industry.

SIR controls the codling moth population in the area, which helps reduce the use of pesticides by growers and others and has enhanced the region's reputation and the ability of growers to expand their markets. SIR has demonstrated its value to the region as it is funded exclusively by groups that rely on its services.

SVC helps commercialize promising new tree fruit varieties that offer commercial and consumer opportunities. As it has no base funding source(s), SVC relies on the sale of propagating materials to growers and orchards, which restricts its ability to engage in any comprehensive commercialization or market identification opportunities. SVC's value is reflected in those purchases. The work underway at SVC includes varieties that could help B.C.s apple sector in terms of domestic and international market opportunities.

WALI helps connect producers of many of BC's agricultural commodities with Labour. The organization focusses on Labour policies to support worker housing and safety, helping producers meet Labour shortages during peak production, and the provision of supporting information and opportunities. WALI is funded by employers that access the primary Labour program with which WALI deals.

Canada's SRDC provides important research and other services to the industry's horticultural practices. These programs are aimed at addressing the impacts of climate change, pest management, and economic development. SRDC is a party of the Government of Canada providing direct and important support to BC's tree fruit sector.

Assessment of The Roles and Responsibilities of Packing Houses

There are almost 40 fruit packing houses in the Okanagan, Similkameen and Creston Valleys. With an estimated 800 growers in the area, this suggests a packer to grower ratio of about one packer for every 40 growers.

While this analysis has only reviewed six packing houses, it is clear there is overlap between these organizations and overlap in contributions to the industry. Even though two of those six houses only processed fruit from family-owner orchards, competition among packing houses for the limited supply of quality fruit (especially apples and cherries) is apparent.

Except for the Co-op and CCS, the other packing houses are privately owned and operated.

General Assessment

The following series of observations concerning the organizations involved in, and their impact on, B.C.'s tree fruit sector reflect fundamental problems that must be addressed if the industry is going to have a realistic opportunity to stabilize, let alone be rejuvenated to any degree.

Overall Leadership Structure and Direction in the Sector

To be successful, any industry requites effective leadership that represents the entire industry and is coordinated among and across the different organizations' mandates, roles, and responsibilities.

- The leadership structure in the tree fruit sector is confused and unclear. No organization has clear responsibility for leading efforts in the sector. The leadership vacuum has caused some groups to act independently in terms of sub-sectors (e.g.: BCCA as it relates to cherry growers, the NTFVDC as it relates to Ambrosia apples).
- Despite its mandate being primarily to lobby government, the BCFGA has stated responsibilities in program delivery and other functions and suggests it is the voice of BC's tree fruit industry.
- Alternatively, by title the BCFGA is the only organization that theoretically represents the full sector. The limited number of independent members indicates that is not the case.
- The sector has no comprehensive business plan or approach.
- The lack of a plan has caused some organizations to plan independently in support of a sub-sector (e.g.: the NTFVDC plan for a marketing commission).

Overlapping or Competing Responsibilities or Interests

- There is overlap in the roles and responsibilities of associations and organizations in the sector. For instance, at least three groups (BCAC, BCFGA, BCCA) have some role in lobbying, information exchange and/or program delivery as it related to Labour).
- A high level of mistrust in the sector has led to the establishment of many private packing houses which compete with, and have a competitive advantage over, the Coop.
- The support provided to the industry and community by some organizations (e.g.: SIR program) are essential to the existence of the industry. Those relationships appear to be spiraling in a negative direction and threatened as industry faces financial challenges.
- The SVC commercialization model has proven to be largely ineffective as there are no marketing funds to launch apple varieties. With the notable exception of Honey Crisp apples, the owners of a variety have been responsible for providing marketing and promotional support.
- The work underway at SVC includes varieties that could help B.C.s apple sector in terms of domestic and international market opportunities. Unlike the cherry sector, it does not appear that B.C.s apple industry has taken full advantage of those opportunities in a systemic way to this point.

A Focus on the Past

- General disenfranchisement and apathy appear to be common with apple producers.
- Some of the industry (especially apple growers) is stuck in the past.
- Many apple growers and some packing houses appear to focus on product quantity, rather than quality. This may be to the detriment of the industry's reputation and overall market appeal. Consumer preferences likely dictate the need to not go to market with low-quality fruit.

Some Real Challenges

- Collectively, apple growers have not been able to overcome the real disadvantages they face (e.g.: land and Labour prices) to be able to respond effectively to legitimate competition and changing consumer preferences.
- The Government of Canada's SRDC conducts world-class research focused on the Okanagan but this information (i.e.: factsheets, quick 30-minute virtual lunch and learn sessions, etc.) is not readily accessible to producers.
- Several organizations in the agriculture industry, including in the tree fruit sector, have not been able to sustain extension services. These services would normally support growers in their horticulture endeavours.